1997

Leo N. Taylor v. Department of Commerce, State of Utah, Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca2

 Part of the [Law Commons](#)

Original Brief Submitted to the Utah Court of Appeals; digitized by the Howard W. Hunter Law Library, J. Reuben Clark Law School, Brigham Young University, Provo, Utah; machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

Benson L. Hathaway, Jr.; Daniel S. Drage; Stirba & Hathaway; Attorneys for Petitioner.

R. Paul Allred; Assistant Attorney General; Jan Graham; Attorney General; Attorneys for Respondent.

Recommended Citation

Brief of Appellant, *Leo N. Taylor v. Department of Commerce, State of Utah, Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing*, No. 970030 (Utah Court of Appeals, 1997).

https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca2/629

This Brief of Appellant is brought to you for free and open access by BYU Law Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Utah Court of Appeals Briefs by an authorized administrator of BYU Law Digital Commons. Policies regarding these Utah briefs are available at http://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/utah_court_briefs/policies.html. Please contact the Repository Manager at hunterlawlibrary@byu.edu with questions or feedback.

UTAH COURT OF APPEALS
BRIEF

UTAH
DOCUMENT
K F U

50

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, STATE OF UTAH

DOCKET NO. 970030 CA

LEO N. TAYLOR,

:

Petitioner,

:

v.

:

Priority No. 14

DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, STATE
OF UTAH, and DIVISION OF
OCCUPATIONAL AND PROFESSIONAL
LICENSING,

:

Case No. 970030 CA

:

Judge Steven J. EKLIN

:

Respondent.

APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Department of Commerce - Division of Occupational and Prof. License

Jan Graham
Attorney General
R. Paul Allred
Assistant Attorney General
160 East 300 South, 6th Floor
Salt Lake City, UT 84111

Benson L. Hathaway, Jr. (Bar No. 4219)
Daniel S. Drage (Bar No. 7508)
STIRBA & HATHAWAY
215 South State Street, Suite 1150
Salt Lake City, UT 84111

Attorneys for Petitioner

Attorneys for Respondent

FILED

MAY - 5 1997

COURT OF APPEALS

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, STATE OF UTAH

LEO N. TAYLOR,	:	
Petitioner,	:	
v.	:	
DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, STATE	:	Case No. 970030 CA
OF UTAH, and DIVISION OF	:	
OCCUPATIONAL AND PROFESSIONAL	:	
LICENSING,	:	
Respondent.	:	

APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Jan Graham
Attorney General
R. Paul Allred
Assistant Attorney General
160 East 300 South, 6th Floor
Salt Lake City, UT 84111

Attorneys for Respondent

Benson L. Hathaway, Jr. (Bar No. 4219)
Daniel S. Drage (Bar No. 7508)
STIRBA & HATHAWAY
215 South State Street, Suite 1150
Salt Lake City, UT 84111

Attorneys for Petitioner

INDEX FOR APPENDIX

Utah Code Annotated 63-46b-10	0001
Utah Code Annotated 63-46b-16	0002
Findings of Fact Conclusions of Law and Recommended Order	0004
Order	0024
In Re: Worthen	0025
In Re: RAK	0042
In Re: DWK	0051
In Re: NEH	0064
In Re: RCS	0085
In Re: JPR	0103
In Re: RAJ	0122
In Re: GRJ	0148
Hearing Transcript	0174

Standing.

Intervention in administrative proceeding based on stipulation that Subsection (2)(a) was satisfied did not confer standing to pursue claims on appeal that were outside the scope of the stipulation. *Sierra Club v. Department of Env'tl. Quality*, 219 Utah Adv. Rep. 21 (Ct. App. 1993).

Allegations by members of environmental organization that their use and enjoyment of Western Utah would have been adversely affected failed to show or allege any specific injury causally related to the alleged illegal activity. *Sierra Club v. Department of Env'tl. Quality*, 219 Utah Adv. Rep. 21 (Ct. App. 1993).

63-46b-10. Procedures for formal adjudicative proceedings — Orders.

In formal adjudicative proceedings:

(1) Within a reasonable time after the hearing, or after the filing of any post-hearing papers permitted by the presiding officer, or within the time required by any applicable statute or rule of the agency, the presiding officer shall sign and issue an order that includes:

- (a) a statement of the presiding officer's findings of fact based exclusively on the evidence of record in the adjudicative proceedings or on facts officially noted;
- (b) a statement of the presiding officer's conclusions of law;
- (c) a statement of the reasons for the presiding officer's decision;
- (d) a statement of any relief ordered by the agency;
- (e) a notice of the right to apply for reconsideration;
- (f) a notice of any right to administrative or judicial review of the order available to aggrieved parties; and
- (g) the time limits applicable to any reconsideration or review.

(2) The presiding officer may use his experience, technical competence, and specialized knowledge to evaluate the evidence.

(3) No finding of fact that was contested may be based solely on hearsay evidence unless that evidence is admissible under the Utah Rules of Evidence.

(4) This section does not preclude the presiding officer from issuing interim orders to:

- (a) notify the parties of further hearings;
- (b) notify the parties of provisional rulings on a portion of the issues presented; or
- (c) otherwise provide for the fair and efficient conduct of the adjudicative proceeding.

History: C. 1953, 63-46b-10, enacted by L. 1987, ch. 161, § 266; 1988, ch. 72, § 20.

NOTES TO DECISIONS

ANALYSIS

Contents of order.
Right to appeal.
Cited.

Contents of order.

This section requires considerable detail in agency orders issued in connection with formal adjudicative procedures, so an ambiguous let-

ter, merely indicating that the request for reconsideration was unpersuasive, was not a "written order" under § 63-46b-13(3). *Lopez v. Career Serv. Review Bd.*, 834 P.2d 568 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

Right to appeal.

When a right to reconsideration exists, Subsection (1)(e) of this section requires notice to petitioner of that right; *Real Estate Commis-*

- (3) (a) The district court, without a jury, shall determine all questions of fact and law and any constitutional issue presented in the pleadings.
 (b) The Utah Rules of Evidence apply in judicial proceedings under this section.

History: C. 1953, 63-46b-15, enacted by L. 1987, ch. 161, § 271; 1988, ch. 72, § 25; 1990, ch. 132, § 1.

Amendment Notes. — The 1990 amendment, effective April 23, 1990, added the exception at the end of Subsection (1)(a).

NOTES TO DECISIONS

ANALYSIS

Final agency action.
Function of district court.
Right to judicial proceeding.
Cited.

Final agency action.

Industrial Commission's determination of wrongful discharge was not final, and so not reviewable under this section, because the commission and the parties had not resolved the issue of reimbursement for lost wages and benefits as required by § 34-28-19(2). *Parkdale Care Ctr. v. Frandsen*, 837 P.2d 989 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

Function of district court.

Section 63-46b-16(1) provides that all final agency decisions through formal adjudicative proceedings will be reviewed by the Utah Supreme Court or Court of Appeals. Therefore, the district court will no longer function as intermediate appellate court except to review informal adjudicative proceedings de novo pursuant to Subsection (1)(a) of this section. In re Topik, 761 P.2d 32 (Utah Ct. App. 1988), cert. denied, 773 P.2d 45 (Utah 1989).

The only appellate jurisdiction statutorily delegated to the district court is to review informal agency adjudicative proceedings. *State v. Humphrey*, 794 P.2d 496 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

Right to judicial proceeding.
 District court erred in declining a de novo review of a dentist's claim to licensure by reciprocity, where there had been no proceeding on his application that was sufficiently judicial in nature, and he had not yet had the licensing agency's action reviewed in a "trial-type hearing." *Kirk v. Division of Occupational & Professional Licensing*, 815 P.2d 242 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

Cited in Southern Utah Wilderness Alliance v. Board of State Lands & Forestry, 830 P.2d 233 (Utah 1992); *Bonneville Int'l Corp. v. Utah State Tax Comm'n.* 219 Utah Adv. Rep. 52 (Ct. App. 1993).

63-46b-16. Judicial review — Formal adjudicative proceedings.

(1) As provided by statute, the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to review all final agency action resulting from formal adjudicative proceedings.

(2) (a) To seek judicial review of final agency action resulting from formal adjudicative proceedings, the petitioner shall file a petition for review of agency action with the appropriate appellate court in the form required by the appellate rules of the appropriate appellate court.

(b) The appellate rules of the appropriate appellate court shall govern all additional filings and proceedings in the appellate court.

(3) The contents, transmittal, and filing of the agency's record for judicial review of formal adjudicative proceedings are governed by the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, except that:

(a) all parties to the review proceedings may stipulate to shorten, summarize, or organize the record;

(b) the appellate court may tax the cost of preparing transcripts and copies for the record:

- (i) against a party who unreasonably refuses to stipulate to shorten, summarize, or organize the record; or
 - (ii) according to any other provision of law.
- (4) The appellate court shall grant relief only if, on the basis of the agency's record, it determines that a person seeking judicial review has been substantially prejudiced by any of the following:
- (a) the agency action, or the statute or rule on which the agency action is based, is unconstitutional on its face or as applied;
 - (b) the agency has acted beyond the jurisdiction conferred by any statute;
 - (c) the agency has not decided all of the issues requiring resolution;
 - (d) the agency has erroneously interpreted or applied the law;
 - (e) the agency has engaged in an unlawful procedure or decision-making process, or has failed to follow prescribed procedure;
 - (f) the persons taking the agency action were illegally constituted as a decision-making body or were subject to disqualification;
 - (g) the agency action is based upon a determination of fact, made or implied by the agency, that is not supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole record before the court;
 - (h) the agency action is:
 - (i) an abuse of the discretion delegated to the agency by statute;
 - (ii) contrary to a rule of the agency;
 - (iii) contrary to the agency's prior practice, unless the agency justifies the inconsistency by giving facts and reasons that demonstrate a fair and rational basis for the inconsistency; or
 - (iv) otherwise arbitrary or capricious.

History: C. 1953, 63-46b-16, enacted by L. 1987, ch. 161, § 272; 1988, ch. 72, § 26.

Cross-References. — Review of proceed-

ings before State Tax Commission, jurisdiction and standard. §§ 59-1-601, 59-1-610.

NOTES TO DECISIONS

ANALYSIS

Agency action.
 Applicability of section.
 Arbitrary action.
 Conflicting evidence.
 Factual findings.
 Final order.
 Function of district court.
 Jurisdictional hearing by board.
 Prior practice.
 Review.
 Standard of review.
 — Interpretation of statutory term.
 — Questions of law.
 Substantial evidence test.
 Substantial prejudice.
 Whole record test.
 Cited.
Agency action.
 Whether the Industrial Commission acted contrary to its own rule is governed by Subsection (4)(h)(ii) of this section. *Ashcroft v. Indus-*

trial Comm'n, 855 P.2d 267 (Utah Ct. App. 1993).

Applicability of section.

Subsection (4) deals with judicial relief, not judicial review. It does not affect the degree of deference an appellate court grants to an agency's decision. Rather, it ensures that relief should not be granted when, although the agency committed error, the error was harmless. *Morton Int'l, Inc. v. Utah State Tax Comm'n*, 814 P.2d 581 (Utah 1991).

Arbitrary action.

Industrial commission's denial of occupational disease disability benefits based upon a solitary finding regarding the ultimate issue of causation failed to disclose the steps by which the ultimate factual conclusions, or conclusions of mixed fact and law, were reached, and therefore rendered the action arbitrary. *Adams v. Board of Review*, 821 P.2d 1 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

**BEFORE THE DIVISION OF OCCUPATIONAL AND PROFESSIONAL LICENSING
OF THE DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE
OF THE STATE OF UTAH**

IN THE MATTER OF THE LICENSE OF
LEO N. TAYLOR
TO PRACTICE AS A VETERINARIAN
IN THE STATE OF UTAH

:
: **FINDINGS OF FACT**
: **CONCLUSIONS OF LAW**
: **AND RECOMMENDED ORDER**
: CASE NO. OPL-95-19
:

Appearances:

R. Paul Allred for the Division of Occupational and
Professional Licensing

Everett E. Dahl for Respondent

BY THE BOARD:

A hearing was conducted on March 18-20, 1996 in the above-entitled proceeding before J. Steven Eklund, Administrative Law Judge for the Department of Commerce, and the Veterinary Board. Board members present were Edmund L. Sperry, Roger E. Rees, Denzel E. Taylor and Katherine R. Brown. The remaining Board member, Gilbert Orme, was absent and did not participate in this proceeding. J. Craig Jackson, Director of the Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing, was present.

Thereafter, evidence was offered and received. The Board, being fully advised in the premises, now enters its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and submits the following Recommended Order for review and action by the Division:

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. Respondent is, and at all time relevant to this proceeding has been, licensed to practice as a veterinarian in this state. Respondent became so licensed in 1956. Respondent maintains a large and small animal veterinary practice at Brookside Animal Hospital, located in West Jordan, Utah.

2. Brookside Animal Hospital was built in 1970. Respondent has maintained a high volume practice at that facility since 1991. Dr. Boyd Stock also provided veterinary services at that facility from October 5, 1992 until May 5, 1995.

3. On July 8, 1993, Respondent provided initial veterinary services to a cocker spaniel, Oscar, owned by Vicki Crocker. Oscar had sustained a broken leg when hit by an automobile. Oscar was in severe shock and pain when Mrs. Crocker brought him to Brookside Animal Hospital.

4. Respondent performed surgery on July 10, 1993 to repair the humeral fracture of Oscar's leg by uniting that fracture with a galvanized rod which Respondent had prepared from supplies maintained at the hospital. Based on the more credible evidence presented, Respondent did not use a stainless steel intramedullary pin for the just-described surgical procedure.

5. The galvanized rod which Respondent used was too small in diameter to adequately stabilize the fracture. Moreover, the rod was not inserted in the medullary canal as to properly unite the various bone fragments which were present. Respondent did not take a post-operative x-ray to confirm that the galvanized

rod was properly positioned as to effectively repair the fracture.

6. Respondent wrapped chromic gut around the fracture as to stabilize the bone during the subsequent healing process. Chromic gut is only properly used for soft tissue repair, inasmuch as that material will deteriorate before any bone has been stabilized in a calloused state. Accordingly, Respondent improperly used chromic gut for the above-described surgical procedure.

7. Oscar remained in Respondent's care until July 17, 1993. When Respondent released Oscar to Mrs. Crocker, he did not provide accurate post-operative instructions to her that Oscar's mobility should be limited during the initial healing period. Rather, one of Respondent's employees verbally instructed Mrs. Crocker that Oscar should be encouraged to use his fractured leg.

8. When Oscar subsequently refused to walk and was very lethargic, Mrs. Crocker took Oscar to another veterinarian, Dr. James R. Kallman, on July 19, 1993. Dr. Kallman briefly examined Oscar and obtained a medical history from Mrs. Crocker. Dr. Kallman then took x-rays, which revealed the fracture was not united, the galvanized rod was not in the medullary canal and the pieces of bone were not reduced.

9. There is no substantial evidence Dr. Kallman performed any surgical procedure on Oscar or otherwise altered the position of the galvanized rod as presented when Mrs. Crocker brought the dog to him. Dr. Kallman then referred Oscar to Dr. Dale Smith,

an orthopedic surgeon.

10. Dr. Smith treated Oscar on July 20, 1993. Specifically, Dr. Smith reviewed the x-rays previously taken by Dr. Kallman. He then removed the galvanized rod in Oscar's leg and inserted a bone plate to repair the humeral fracture. There is no substantial evidence that anyone other than Respondent inserted the galvanized rod in Oscar's leg.

11. Based on the substantial and credible evidence presented, Respondent had used galvanized material, which is subject to rusting and deterioration, to serve as an intramedullary pin in Oscar's leg. However, Respondent should have used a stainless steel pin manufactured for surgical use. Further, Respondent should have wrapped stainless steel wire around the fracture to sufficiently stabilize the bone during the subsequent healing process.

12. Respondent did not maintain any sufficient medical records of the treatment which he rendered to Oscar. The pre-operative x-ray which Respondent took of the fracture was not sufficient to allow him to adequately diagnose and treat that condition. Specifically, two x-rays should have been taken to thus reveal both joints of the humerus, above and below the fracture.

13. Respondent did not record Oscar's medical history or any physical examination of the animal. Further, Respondent did not record any surgery report or progress notes as to document Oscar's condition while in his care. Respondent's diagnosis of

Oscar - a fractured humerus - is reflected on billing records maintained by the hospital.

14. Michael and Rebecca De Guzman took their chow/lab mix, Nadia, to Respondent for treatment on December 23, 1993. Nadia was afflicted with mastitis and remained in Respondent's care until December 27, 1993. There is a lack of credible evidence to find Respondent physically abused Nadia while that dog was in his care.

15. When the mastitis ulcerated and ruptured, Respondent removed skin around that wound without adequately shaving the area. The wound was approximately five inches by two inches. There is lack of sufficient evidence to find Respondent did not administer an anesthetic before he treated Nadia. Respondent acted properly when he left the wound open to drain without applying a bandage and dressing.

16. Respondent gave the De Guzman's medication (Granulex) to treat the wound. However, the De Guzmans took Nadia to Dr. Jolie R. Brown on December 28, 1993 for subsequent treatment and surgery. Specifically, Dr. Brown further shaved the area. She also debrided additional dead tissue.

17. Respondent did not record Nadia's medical history or any physical examination of that animal. Further, Respondent did not record any surgery report or progress notes as to document Nadia's condition while under his care. Respondent's diagnosis of Nadia - mastitis - is reflected on billing records maintained by the hospital.

18. Cindy Bue took her English bulldog, Hillary, to Respondent to be artificially inseminated. With due regard for the certification of breeding which Respondent executed as to Hillary and notwithstanding Respondent's testimony to the contrary, substantial and credible evidence exists and the Board thus finds that Respondent artificially inseminated Hillary on April 21 and 23, 1994.

19. On June 17, 1994, Hillary exhibited labor symptoms. Ms. Bue contacted Respondent, who instructed her to bring the dog to the hospital the following day. Ms. Bue took Hillary to Respondent's clinic on the morning of June 18, 1994. Hillary had passed two dead pups prior to arriving at the hospital. Based on the more credible evidence presented, and with due regard for the billing records maintained by Respondent, the Board finds that Respondent examined Hillary.

20. Respondent thus palpated Hillary to diagnose her condition. Given the physiology of English bulldogs, Respondent could not possibly palpate Hillary to accurately determine if she had delivered the entire litter. Moreover, Respondent did not take an x-ray to accurately and adequately assess Hillary's condition. Respondent informed Ms. Bue that the litter was premature and any remaining pups would be born dead. Respondent determined that no surgical intervention would be necessary, as he believed Hillary would successfully pass the pups without such assistance.

21. Based on the more credible evidence presented, Hillary

remained in Respondent's care until June 19, 1994. Respondent informed Ms. Bue on that date that Hillary had passed the last pup, which was also premature and dead. Respondent made that representation without having taken an x-ray to adequately diagnose Hillary's condition and accurately determine whether she had delivered the entire litter. There is no credible and substantial evidence that Respondent performed any procedure, whereby he allegedly inserted a catheter into Hillary's uterus to flush out the dog.

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