1997

Leo N. Taylor v. Department of Commerce : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Challenge to Order on Review. Under Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16 (1993), Taylor has petitioned for judicial review of final agency action. Throughout his 62 page brief, Taylor fails to directly challenge the Order on Review (Addendum). Taylor's failure to properly challenge the Order on Review should result in this Court denying his petition.

2. Duty to marshal the evidence. Before Taylor can challenge the Department's affirmation of the Division's findings, he must marshal the evidence. In order to fulfill his duty to marshal the evidence, Taylor must pull together all competent evidence that supports the Division's findings. Once Taylor has properly marshaled the evidence, he must then set forth the fatal flaw. Taylor ignores or overlooks critical evidence that supports the Division's findings. The Department

correctly determined that the Division's findings are supported by substantial evidence.

3. Veterinary Standards. Taylor contends that the Division failed to define the terms "unprofessional conduct," "negligence," "gross negligence," and "gross incompetence." In its Order on Review, the Department correctly relied on a Utah Supreme Court case regarding statutory standards for conduct of professionals in licensing actions. Taylor has failed to challenge the Department's Order in this regard.

4. Preservation of issues. Taylor contends that the Division has violated his right to due process. Taylor has failed to make citations to the record showing that these arguments have been preserved or set forth statements or grounds allowing review of unpreserved issues.

5. The Division's prior consistency. Taylor contends that the Division has acted in an inconsistent manner in revoking his license to practice veterinary medicine. Taylor argues that in prior cases the Division has not revoked the licenses of veterinarians engaged in misconduct involving controlled substances, moral turpitude and unsanitary equipment and facilities. Taylor asks the court to compare dissimilar unprofessional conduct under Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-

16(4)(h)(iii)(1993). The type of comparison that Taylor argues for is irrational.

ARGUMENT

I.

TAYLOR FAILS TO PROPERLY CHALLENGE THE DEPARTMENT'S ORDER ON REVIEW

In his petition, Taylor seeks judicial review of the Department's Order on Review under the Utah Administrative Procedures Act. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-14(1) states that "[a] party aggrieved may obtain judicial review of final agency action, except in actions where judicial review is expressly prohibited by statute." The term "final agency action" is defined in Utah Admin. Code R151-46b-14(2). R151-46b-14(2) states that "[the order on review constitutes final agency action."

Taylor's brief ignores or overlooks the Department's Order on Review. Throughout his 62 page brief, there is not one direct reference to the Order on Review. Instead, he focuses his attention on challenging the Division's order without addressing whether the Department correctly affirmed the Division's order. Therefore, the Court should deny his petition.

II.

TAYLOR'S FAILURE TO MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE PRECLUDES HIM FROM CHALLENGING THE DIVISION'S FINDINGS THAT HE ENGAGED IN UNPROFESSIONAL CONDUCT

In his brief, Taylor contests the Division's findings regarding four of the five animals identified in the petition filed against him (Br. at 19-39). The Division's factual findings should be reviewed by the Court to determine whether the finding is supported by substantial evidence "when viewed in light of the whole record before the court." Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(g) (1993); accord King, 850 P.2d 1281, 1285 (Utah App. 1993) (appellate courts review the whole record to determine whether substantial evidence supports the factual findings); Albertsons Inc. V. Dept. of Emp. Sec., 854 P.2d 570, 574 (Utah App. 1993); Grace Drilling, 776 P.2d 63, 67 (Utah App. 1989).

Taylor has the burden to marshal all evidence supporting the Division's findings. He must show that despite supporting facts and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from those facts, the Division's findings are not supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole record before the Department. Hales Sand and Gravel, Inc. v. Audit Division, 842 P.2d 887, 893 (Utah 1992) (petitioner failed to marshal facts to show

commission's finding was not supported by substantial evidence); Heinecke, 810 P.2d 459, 464 (Utah App. 1991) (a Division case in which this Court held that appellate courts will consider evidence contrary to findings in applying the substantial evidence test; however, a petitioner is required to initially marshal evidence which supports findings); Grace Drilling, 776 P.d. 63, 68 (Utah App. 1989). Regarding the duty of marshaling the evidence, this Court in West Valley City v. Majestic Inv. Co., 818 P.2d 1311 (Utah App. 1991), explained:

The marshaling process is not unlike becoming the devil's advocate. Counsel must extricate himself or herself from the client's shoes and fully assume the adversary's position. In order to properly discharge the duty of marshaling the evidence, the challenger must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings the appellant resists. After constructing this magnificent array of supporting evidence, the challenger must ferret out a fatal flaw in the evidence.

Id. at 1315. (emphasis in original).

On agency review, the Department concluded that Taylor failed in his duty to marshal evidence (R. 11, Addendum). In spite of Taylor's failure to marshal, the Department's Executive Director did his own exhaustive review of the record. Beginning on page 11 of the Order on Review, the Director begins a review of the Division's findings and the substantial evidence that

supports those findings (R. 11-51, Addendum). The Director concluded that he was unable to state that there was not substantial evidence to support the Division's findings (R. 61, Addendum).

In his brief, Taylor continues to overlook or ignore evidence that supports the Division's findings. Specifically, the evidence is set forth in detail by the Department in pages 11-51 of the Order on Review.² Because he has failed to marshal all of the evidence that supports the Division's findings, Taylor is barred from challenging those findings. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the Division's findings that Taylor committed multiple instances of unprofessional conduct.

² As an example, the Board found that Taylor engaged in grossly incompetent practices in his treatment of Oscar, Hillary and Shakesbear (R. 311). Taylor argues that Division's finding regarding his treatment of Hillary is only supported by the testimony of Hillary's owner and a veterinarian that subsequently treated Hillary (Br. at 20). However, Taylor ignores his own testimony. After denying that he treated Hillary, Taylor testified that because of the structure of an English bulldog, palpating is not always effective and that he offers to take x-rays (Tr. Vol. 2 at 382). Moreover, after denying that he treated Hillary, Taylor testified that he would probably have performed a C-section on Hillary (Tr. Vol. 2 at 336-338). Taylor fails in his burden to marshal the evidence by not setting forth his own testimony that supports the Division's findings. Taylor's testimony is undoubtedly part of the competent evidence relied on by the Board in reaching its findings of fact.

In addition, Taylor does not point out any flaw in the evidence let alone a "fatal flaw." West Valley City, 818 p.2d at 1315. Therefore, due to Taylor's failure to marshal the evidence and his failure to point out a fatal flaw, this Court should affirm the Division's findings. Moreover, the Department correctly determined that there is substantial evidence to support the Division's findings (R. 61, Addendum).

III.

THE DEPARTMENT CORRECTLY SET FORTH THE STANDARDS AGAINST WHICH VETERINARIANS ARE MEASURED

Beginning on page 18 of his brief, Taylor introduces an argument that is mixed with issues of substantial evidence and unlawful decision making. Taylor argues that the Division's order falls short in defining the terms "unprofessional conduct," "negligence," "gross negligence," or "gross incompetence" (Br. at 15). However, Taylor's brief does not contain any citation to authority that supports his argument that the Division must define these terms.

On agency review, Taylor argued that the Division failed to properly define these terms and that they were unconstitutionally vague (R. 54-62, Addendum). The Department correctly responded to both of these arguments in its Order on Review by referring to

the standard set forth in Vance v. Fordham, 671 P.2d 124 (Utah 1983). In Vance, the Utah Supreme Court held that a general statutory standard governing professional conduct is acceptable. The Court stated:

As applied to the treatment of patients (or services to clients), a general statutory standard like 'unprofessional conduct' is acceptable for three reasons: (1) The subject of professional performance is too comprehensive to be codified in detail. (2) Members of a profession can properly be held to understand its standards of performance. (3) Standards of performance will be interpreted by members of the same profession in the process of administrative adjudication.

Id. at 129.

The Department, citing the Vance and Heinecke cases, stated that Taylor, as a licensed veterinarian for forty years, was properly charged with knowledge of what conduct is inconsistent with his responsibilities as a professional (R. 58-60, Addendum). The Department correctly held that Taylor was on notice as to what conduct was unprofessional and therefore his rights to due process were not violated.

IV.

TAYLOR HAS FAILED TO PRESERVE THE ISSUES OF VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS BY NOT RAISING THEM AT AGENCY REVIEW

Starting on page 40 of his brief, Taylor argues issues of substantial evidence mixed with an issue of violation of due process. These issues were not raised at the administrative level. First, Taylor argues that the Division's finding of "aggravating factors" is not supported by substantial evidence and violates his rights to due process³ (Br. at 40-48). Taylor's brief omits any citations to the record showing that this issue was preserved at the administrative level or any statement of grounds for seeking review of an unpreserved issue.

Second, Taylor argues that there is no evidence that he failed to acknowledge the wrongful nature of his misconduct to the Board or the owners of the animals identified in the petition (Br. at 43). Taylor's brief omits any citations to the record

³ Taylor also argues that the rules provide for a procedure whereby the hearing process could have been bifurcated (Br. at 47). Taylor then argues that the Division never ordered a separate hearing. Taylor did not ask for one and thus he provides no citation to the record to indicate that he requested a bifurcated hearing or raised the issue at the administrative level (Br. at 47). Therefore, Taylor has failed to properly preserve this argument. Pickett, 858 P.2d 187, 190 n.5 (Utah App. 1993).

showing that this issue was preserved on the administrative level. The only citation to the record are references to the closing statement of Division's counsel (Br. at 42-44).⁴

Finally, Taylor argues that his right to due process has been violated because the Division failed to notify him that his "lack of contrition" and his "recalcitrance" would lead to the revocation of his license. Again, Taylor omits any citation to the record that this issue was preserved at the administrative level. Therefore, Taylor's brief violates rule 24(a)(5)(A), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

⁴ Taylor raises two arguments in one by discussing substantial evidence and violations of due process. With respect to substantial evidence, Taylor argues that the only evidence of his failure to "acknowledge the wrongful nature of his misconduct" are the remarks made by Division's counsel during closing argument (Br. at 43). Once again, Taylor fails in his duty to marshal the evidence. During the hearing, Taylor testified that he did not treat Hillary (Tr. Vol 2 at 336-338). Taylor also testified that he did not treat Shakesbear (Tr. Vol. 2 at 339). Taylor also denied that he put the galvanized rod in Oscar's leg (Tr. Vol 2 at 326). The Board heard the testimony of the Division's witnesses, including Taylor's testimony, and concluded that Taylor was not credible and that he had engaged in the alleged conduct (R. 297, 301 and 303). Finally, the record does not indicate that Taylor objected to any of the remarks made by Division's counsel during his closing statement (Tr. Vol. 3 at 495-496, 503-505). Therefore, this Court should not consider this on appeal. State v. Cabututan, 861 P.2d 408, 413 (Utah 1993).

Taylor has failed in his obligation to raise all issues that could have been presented at the administrative level thus allowing them to be adjudicated by the administrative law judge (ALJ) or the Department⁵. If Taylor had made an objection or raised these issues at the administrative level, he would have given the ALJ or the Department the opportunity to remedy the alleged defects. However, Taylor failed to preserve these issues by not raising them below. Pease, 694 P.2d 613, 616 (Utah 1984) (petitioner had "the obligation to raise all the issues that could have been presented"); Brinkerhoof v. Schwendiman, 790 P.2d 587, 589 (Utah App. 1990); Ashcroft v. Industrial Comm'n, 855 P.2d 267, 268 (Utah App. 1993) (petitioner waived the issues of sufficiency of evidence and adequacy of findings because he failed to properly preserve them for appeal); Barney, 885 P.2d 809 (Utah App. 1994). As a result, Taylor should not be allowed to raise these issues for the first time on judicial review.

⁵ Taylor also argues that the Division failed to set forth the elements it must show in order to prove its prima facie case and that it failed to link its findings to its conclusions of law (Br. at 18). Taylor's brief omits any citation to the record showing that this issue was preserved on the administrative level on any statement of grounds for seeking review of an unpreserved issue. Therefore, Taylor has failed to preserve this issue.

V.

TAYLOR HAS FAILED TO MAKE A PRIMA FACIE CASE
THAT THE DIVISION HAS ACTED CONTRARY TO ITS
PRIOR PRACTICES

In his brief, Taylor challenges the Division's order because of an alleged inconsistency in the present case with precedent imposing more lenient penalties on six other veterinarians. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(h)(iii) (1993) states:

(4) The appellate court shall grant relief only if, on the basis of the agency's record, it determines that a person seeking judicial review has been substantially prejudiced by any of the following:

. . . .

(h) the agency action is:

. . . .

(iii) contrary to the agency's prior practice, unless the agency justifies the inconsistency by giving facts and reasons that demonstrate a fair and rational basis for the inconsistency;

Taylor relies on Pickett, 858 P.2d 187 (Utah App. 1993) in attacking the Division's (but not the Department's) Order (Br. at 49-57). The Pickett case involved a pharmacist whose controlled substance license was revoked after a hearing before the Pharmacy Board. This Court considered Pickett's challenge and remanded the case back to the Division. The Pickett court pointed out that Pickett was required to establish a prima facie case that

the Division's action in his case was contrary to the Division's prior practice. The Pickett court, referring to Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(h)(iii), stated as follows:

[T]his section requires a petitioner to establish as a prima facie case that the administrative agency's action in his or her case was 'contrary to the agency's prior practice.' If a petitioner meets this burden, section 16(4)(h)(iii) unambiguously requires that 'the agency justif[y] the inconsistency' with prior decisions.

Id. at 191 (emphasis added).

In the present case, the Department upheld the Division's order concluding that the prior veterinary cases were not similar in conduct to the present case (R. 6-8, Addendum). In his brief, Taylor refers the Court to seven cases involving veterinarians and agency orders. Four of the seven cases involved the inappropriate use of controlled substances. The fifth case involved a veterinarian that had a criminal conviction. The sixth case involved unsanitary conditions in the use of equipment and a facility. The Department, in its Order on Review, correctly held that none of these prior cases involved issues of the technical competency of the veterinarians (R. 6, Addendum).

The one case cited by Taylor that is similar to his own case because it involves issues of technical competency, is the Dr. Gregory Johnston case. The parties settled the Johnston case

under a Stipulation and Order approved by the Division on April 25, 1996 (R. 7). The Division issued the Order in the present case on April 15, 1996 (R. 295). Therefore, the Department correctly concluded that the Johnston case cannot be considered a "prior" case (R. 7, Addendum).

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